S259364

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUNDAR NATARAJAN, M.D.,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

DIGNITY HEALTH,

Respondent.

Case No. C085906

County of San Joaquin Superior Court No. STK-CV-UWM-20164821

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

AFTER THE PUBLISHED DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT OF NOVEMBER 20, 2019

STEPHEN D. SCHEAR Attorney at Law, SBN 83806 Law Offices of Stephen D. Schear 2831 Telegraph Avenue Phone: (510) 708-9636

Email: steveschear@gmail.com

JUSTICE FIRST

Jenny C. Huang, SBN 223596 180 Grand Avenue, Suite 1300

Oakland, CA 94612

Telephone: (510) 628-0695 Email: jhuang@justicefirst.net

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED

Doctors depend on hospital privileges to practice medicine, a fact long-recognized by California courts. Under California law, hospitals have the power to terminate physicians' privileges for problems with their medical care or professional behavior, but only after quasi-judicial administrative hearings intended to protect doctors' fundamental right to practice their profession. These hearings are critically important to physicians, since the loss of a hearing may destroy a physician's career.

Hospitals generally select the hearing officers to preside over hearings. The physician who is the subject of the hearing has no right to participate in the appointment of the hearing officer. The subject physician does have a right to voir dire the appointed hearing officer, and the option to then make a challenge to the hearing officer's service based on a claim of bias. The hearing officer rules on the bias challenge.

Natarajan v. Dignity Health ("Natarajan") presents the issue of what standard of bias applies to hearing officers in private hospital hearings held pursuant to Business and Professions Code § 809 et seq. There is now a clear split of authority on this question.

In *Haas v. County of San Bernardino* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1017, this Court held that an ad hoc hearing officer presiding over a county administrative hearing should have been disqualified because of an appearance of bias generated by the possibility of future work for the hiring entity. In *Yaqub v. Salinas Valley Memorial Healthcare System* (2004) 122 Cal.App.4th 474, the Sixth District held that *Haas* applies to hospital hearings, and that the correct standard for disqualification of a hospital hearing officer is the appearance of bias. In *El-Attar v. Hollywood Presbyterian Medical Center* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 976, 996, a case involving a private hospital, this Court cited *Haas* and *Yaqub* in a context that suggested that those cases applied to private hospital hearings. However, *El-Attar* did not expressly address whether the *Haas* doctrine applies in private hospital hearings.

In *Natarajan*, Defendant Dignity Health ("Dignity") was an economic competitor of Dr. Natarajan. It initiated an investigation of his practice that resulted in a recommendation to terminate his privileges based primarily on a claim of delinquent medical record-keeping. After Dr. Natarajan requested a hearing on the recommendation, Dignity unilaterally appointed an ad hoc hearing officer. At the time of the appointment, Dignity had previously retained the selected hearing officer on nine other occasions, and the hearing officer was eligible for unlimited future hearing officer appointments at 33 other Dignity hospitals. Dr. Natarajan challenged the appointment based on the hearing officer's appearance of bias under *Haas* and *Yaqub*. The hearing officer overruled the challenge and presided over the hearing, which Dr. Natarajan lost.

The Court of Appeal held that *Haas* does not apply to private hospital hearings, that *Yaqub* was wrongly decided and has no precedential value, and that a physician must prove actual bias to disqualify a hearing officer. It

affirmed the hearing decision because Dr. Natarajan had not proven that the hearing officer was actually biased against him. (Exhibit 1, *Natarajan* Slip Opinion ("Op.") pp. 6-11.)

The question presented by this case is whether physicians with privileges at a private hospital have the right to disqualify a hearing officer with an appearance of bias under *Haas v. County of San Bernardino* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1017, or rather must prove actual bias.

#### WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

I. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO RESOLVE THE CONFLICTS BETWEEN NATARAJAN AND YAQUB, AND BETWEEN NATARAJAN AND APPLEBAUM V. BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

Yaqub and Natarajan are the only published cases that address the standard that should be used when evaluating whether a hospital hearing officer is impartial. Yaqub held that hearing officers should be disqualified if they have an appearance of bias due to a past relationship with the hospital and the possibility of future employment by the hiring entity. Yaqub defined the appearance of bias standard using two different tests. First, it adopted the objective test set forth in Haas, 27 Cal.4th at 1029, "whether the economic realities make the design of the fee system vulnerable to a 'possible temptation' to the 'average man' as judge." (Yaqub, 122 Cal.App.4th at 485.) This test disqualifies an ad hoc hearing officer who has the possibility of future employment with the hiring entity. Yaqub also used a second objective test taken from the California Code of Judicial Ethics, "whether a person aware of the facts might reasonably entertain a doubt that the judge would be able to act with integrity, impartiality, and competence." (Id., 122 Cal.App.4th at 486.)

In *Natarajan*, the Third District not only disagreed with *Yaqub* and rejected the appearance of bias standard, it asserted that *Yaqub* has no precedential value, but is rather a "derelict on the waters of the law." (Op., p. 9.) Given *Natarajan's* statement that *Yaqub* is a derelict, the conflict between the Third District and the Sixth District could not be more clear. *Natarajan* thus meets the standard for review under California Rule of Court 8.500, subd. (b) – "when necessary to secure uniformity of decision."

Natarajan also conflicts with an earlier Third District case,

Applebaum v. Board of Directors (1980) 104 Cal.App.3d 648, on the
question of whether the "fair hearing procedure" required in hospital
hearings is substantively different than the due process required in
government administrative hearings. In Applebaum, the Court held that
although fair hearing procedure and constitutional due process have
different origins, the extent of protection of an individual is the same. (Id.,
104 Cal.App.3d at 657-658.) Applebaum also held that constitutional due
process precedents were applicable when analyzing the fairness of hospital
hearings. (Id., at 658.) In Natarajan, on the other hand, the Court
emphasized the difference between constitutional due process and fair
hearing procedure as the primary reason for its holding that a physician with
privileges at a private hospital cannot disqualify a hearing officer with an
appearance of bias. (Op., pp. 6-11.)

# II. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED BECAUSE THE UNRESOLVED QUESTION OF WHAT STANDARD OF IMPARTIALITY SHOULD BE USED IN HOSPITAL HEARINGS IS IMPORTANT TO THE HOSPITAL INDUSTRY, PHYSICIANS, AND THE PUBLIC HEALTH.

# A. California Hospitals and Hospital Hearing Officers Agree That the Issue Presented in this Case Is Very Important.

Dr. Natarajan and the hospital industry disagree on the standard of impartiality that should apply to hospital hearing officers. On one point they do agree. They are in accord that the resolution of the issues raised in this case are extremely important for a well-functioning hospital hearing process. This case also meets the second criteria of Rule 8-500, subd. (b) – "to settle an important question of law."

In the Court of Appeal, amicus briefs were filed by the California Hospital Association (CHA); the California Medical Association (CMA); and a group of hospital systems that included John Muir Health, Kaiser, MemorialCare, Providence St. Joseph, Sharp Healthcare, Sutter Health and the Regents of the University of California. The hospitals asserted that "This case is of vital interest to every organization, public and private, that routinely conducts administrative hearings, particularly in a specialized area." (Hospitals' Amicus Brief, Nov. 30. 2018, p. 9.) Two additional amicus briefs were filed by current hospital hearing officers.

After the Court of Appeal issued an unpublished opinion on October 22, 2019, requests for publication were filed by Respondent Dignity Health ("Dignity"), the CHA, Sharp Healthcare, Providence St. Joseph Health and two hearing officers, Glenda Zarbock and Patrick Moore.

In requesting publication, Dignity correctly stated that *Natarajan* is the first case to hold that "constitutional due process" is substantively different than "fair hearing procedure" and that physicians are therefore not

entitled to due process in hospital hearings. Dignity also correctly observed that *Natarajan* is an "express repudiation" of *Yaqub*, the only other published decision on hearing officer bias; and that *Natarajan* is the first case to hold that the standard of actual bias applies to a claim of financial conflict-of-interests of a hearing officer, rather than the appearance of bias standard used in *Haas* and *Yaqub*. (Dignity Request for Publication, Nov. 7, 2019.)

The CHA asserted that publication was necessary to bring clarity to the standard that applies to hearing officers. It stated that failure to publish *Natarajan* would maintain uncertainty that "would still loom over every hearing officer appointment decision." (CHA Request for Publication, November 8, 2019, pp. 1-2.) The CHA wrote that "[w]ithout clarification from this Court, Yaqub will continue to incorrectly set the standard for hearing officer neutrality for both public and private hospitals." (*Id.* at p. 3.) The CHA noted the continued confusion about whether the standard for hospital hearing officers is the appearance of bias or actual bias. (*Id.* at p. 4.) It concluded that "the topics addressed in *Natarajan* – hearing officer neutrality, section 809.2, objective standards, and the difference between fair procedure and constitutional due process—are critical to peer review and impact the health of nearly all Californians." (Id., at p. 5.) The request for publication by Providence St. Joseph Health described how uncertainty has plagued the selection of hearing officers since Yaqub was decided 15 years ago.

Following the requests for publication, on November 20, 2019, the Court of Appeal ordered *Natarajan* published. However, the publication of *Natarajan* does not eliminate the uncertainty of what standard of bias applies to hospital hearing officers. To the contrary, it magnifies that uncertainty, since the only two published Court of Appeal opinions on the

issue of hearing officer bias are directly in conflict.

# B. The Standard Applicable to Hearing Officers Is Extremely Important to Physicians.

In *Wyatt v. Tahoe Forest Hospital* (1959) 174 Cal.App.2d 709, 715-716, the Court held for the first time that fair hearings were required before a hospital could deny a physician privileges. That decision was based on the recognition that most physicians cannot practice medicine without access to a hospital. (*Ibid.*) The purpose of the hearings was to protect a physician from losing the ability to practice without good cause. (*Ibid.*) In *Mileikowsky v. West Hills Hospital & Medical Center* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1259, 1267-68, this Court recognized that the effect of a denial of privileges extends beyond the denial of access to a particular hospital. Adverse hospital hearing decisions are reported to the Medical Board of California and the National Practitioners Data Bank. *Mileikowsky* quoted with approval an article that described how hospital discipline "can have an immediate and devastating effect on a practitioner's career." The Court recognized that a denial of hospital privileges "may have the affect of ending the physician's career." (*Ibid.*)

An adverse hearing decision, unless overturned through a writ of mandate, also forecloses any action by the physician for wrongful termination of privileges, bad faith peer review, intentional interference with the right to practice one's profession, unfair procedure, and other common law torts arising from the events related to the hearing. (*Westlake Community Hospital v. Superior Court* (1976) 17 Cal.3d 465, 485-486.)<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Whistleblowers who report problems with patient care have an independent statutory right to sue a hospital under Health and Safety Code 1278.5. (*Fahlen v. Sutter Central Valley Hospitals* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 655, 687.)

Physicians facing hospital hearings thus have a tremendous amount at stake. An unfair hearing can both cost them careers created after more than a decade of medical school and residency training and deny them the opportunity to ever have their own claims of wrong-doing heard in a neutral civil forum.

In hospital hearings, hearing officers have a tremendous ability to influence the outcome. It is the hearing officers who decide whether to grant challenges to their own impartiality. (Business and Professions Code § 809.2, subd. (c).)<sup>2</sup> After rejecting that challenge, they decide, inter alia, challenges to the impartiality of hearing panel members who constitute the professional jury (Section 809.2, subd. (c)); pre-hearing discovery and other motions (Section 809.2 subds. (d)(e)(f) and (g)); and what evidence the hearing panel will see and what will be excluded (Section 809.3, subd. (a)(4)). In addition, in many hearings, as in Dr. Natarajan's, the hearing officers deliberate with the hearing panel with no record of what they tell the panel. (Petitioner's Administrative Record ("PAR") 19 PAR 4528; Augmented Administrative Record ("AAR") 306.) The ability of an experienced hospital attorney to give unrecorded instructions to hearing panel physicians, who are usually in their first hospital hearing, provides a virtually unlimited opportunity for a hearing officer to influence the hearing panel.

For physicians, the question of whether they are entitled to an impartial hearing officer without the appearance of bias is thus extremely important.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All statutory references are to the Business and Professions Code unless otherwise noted.

#### C. Impartial Hearing Officers Are Important to Patients.

California currently has a severe shortage of physicians.<sup>3</sup> Section 809, subd. (a)(4) recognizes that unfair hearings not only damage the physicians who unfairly lose their privileges, but also the public, which loses access to competent practitioners. In addition, unfair hospital hearings undermine the integrity of hospital peer review, which directly jeopardizes the quality of care provided to patients.

### III. THE LEGAL QUESTIONS CREATED BY NATARAJAN ARE IMPORTANT TO RESOLVE AS MATTERS OF LAW.

Due process does not constitute a standard set of procedures applicable to all tribunals in the same way. The type and extent of necessary due process protections depend on the interest at stake, the damage done by a wrongful deprivation of that interest, the value of procedural safeguards and the costs of those safeguards. (*Haas, supra,* 27 Cal.4th at 1035, citing *Mathews v. Eldridge* (1976) 424 U.S. 319, 335.) However, the *Mathews* cost-benefit analysis does not apply to the question of impartial adjudicators, because the necessity of an impartial adjudicator is qualitatively different than other due process protections, and so fundamental to our system of law. (*Haas,* at 1035-1036.) Impartial adjudicators are required not only to reduce the possibility of erroneous decisions, but also to protect our system of law from biased tribunals. (*Ibid.*)

Natarajan recognizes that "[t]here is a core protection even under fair procedure of an impartial decider." (Op., p. 7.) Nonetheless, it holds that hearing officers with an appearance of bias are acceptable in hospital hearings. Deciding whether actual bias or the appearance bias is the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> (California Health Care Foundation, htps://www.chcf.org/publication/cure-californias-doctor-shortage/)

applicable standard to determine a hospital hearing officer's impartiality is a question that should be answered to help ensure the integrity of one of California's important quasi-judicial systems of justice.

It is also important for this Court to resolve the conflict between *Natarajan* and *Applebaum v. Board of Directors, supra,* on the question of whether fair hearing procedure provides lesser protection than constitutional due process. The impact of the *Natarajan* holding on this issue can be expected to extend well beyond the selection of hearing officers. For example, hospitals can be expected to argue that hearing panel members with an appearance of bias are acceptable "fair procedure" even if their service would violate due process due to financial conflicts of interest. Hospitals are also likely to argue that the failure to provide any of the procedural safeguards provided in Section 809.1 et seq. or in the common law is an insufficient reason to render a hearing "unfair," because physicians are not entitled to due process.

The importance of this holding is particularly profound given the high stakes for physicians in the outcome of hospital hearings described above. This Court has historically attempted to protect physicians from unfair hearings. In *Rosner v. Eden Township Hospital Dist.* (1962) 58 Cal.2d 592, 598, the Court held that hospitals were not permitted to use standards for the exclusion of doctors that were so vague and ambiguous as to provide a substantial danger of arbitrary discrimination in their application. In *Anton v. San Antonio Community Hospital* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 802, 823-825, this Court held that a physician has a fundamental vested property right to maintain hospital privileges unless the hospital proves that he failed to meet reasonable standards of the hospital. In *Mileikowsky, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at 1267, the Court affirmed that physicians have a property interest in hospital privileges directly connected to their livelihood.

It then held that a hearing officer could not terminate a physician's hearing based on alleged discovery misconduct because to do so would exceed his authority.

If this Court does not grant review, hospitals will be empowered under *Natarajan* to take physicians' fundamental vested property interests without due process, using hearing officers whose appointment may be unlawful, if *Yaqub* rather than *Natarajan* correctly states California law.<sup>4</sup>

### IV. THE LAW REGARDING THE SELECTION OF HOSPITAL HEARING OFFICERS IS HIGHLY UNCERTAIN.

The five requests for publication of *Natarajan* likely arose at least in part from self-serving motives, since publication would give hospitals a freer hand when selecting hearing officers. However, there is no denying that the CHA and the hospitals are accurate in their assertions that California law is currently in a high state of uncertainty on the question of the standard of impartiality for hospital hearing officers. This uncertainty is shown not only by the conflict between *Yaqub* and *Natarajan* described above. It is also demonstrated by the following facts:

The CHA, which represents 400 California hospitals that have 97 per cent of the patient beds in the state, asserts that *Haas* and *Yaqub* do not apply to private hospitals. (CHA Amicus Brief, Nov. 30, 2018, pp. 2, 28-31.) On the other hand, the CMA, which represents approximately 45,000 California physicians, takes the position that *Haas* and *Yaqub* do apply to private hospitals. (CMA Amicus Brief, Dec. 20, 2018, pp. 6, 24-26.) When the two leading health industry organizations take opposite views on an unsettled important question of law, Supreme Court review is necessary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Dr. Natarajan reserves any claim that the decision in *Natarajan* violates his federal due process rights for determination by federal courts.

to ensure that the law is clear, so that it can be applied both correctly and uniformly.

The Legislature has provided little guidance on the selection of hearing officers. The only statute that describes the selection process is Business and Professions Code § 809.2, subds. (b) and (c). The statute does not state who shall select the hearing officer or require any particular process for that selection. None of the parties have found any legislative history that sheds any light on the intention of the Legislature when it enacted Section 809.2 subds. (b) and (c).

Section 809 subd. (b) provides that a hearing officer shall not gain a "direct financial benefit from the outcome." However, the statute provides no language indicating whether that requirement is the exclusive grounds for disqualifying a hearing officer, as contended by Dignity, the CHA and the other hospital systems, or whether a hearing officer can be challenged for other reasons indicating a lack of impartiality, as argued by Dr. Natarajan and the CMA. (Dr. Natarajan's Opening Brief ("AOB") p. 32, CMA Amicus Brief, pp. 21-24.) Section 809.2, subd. (b) also does not define what constitutes a "direct financial benefit from the outcome," leaving the question unanswered as to what that means. Is that phrase limited to bribes, bonuses or explicit promises for future employment to a hearing officer conditioned on the hospital prevailing in the hearing? Or does is it include the "direct, personal, substantial and pecuniary interest" described in *Haas*, supra, 27 Cal.4th at 1031-1032, that arises when an ad hoc hearing officer can be repeatedly retained by the hiring entity? The meaning and effect of Section 809.2, subd. (b) are outstanding questions that need to be resolved by this Court.

Likewise, Section 809.2, subd. (c) permits a physician to conduct voir dire and to challenge the hearing officer's impartiality, but it provides

no guidance as to whether the standard used for deciding on the hearing officer's impartiality is actual bias or the appearance of bias.

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