No. S259364 IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUNDAR NATARAJAN, M.D.,

Petitioner and Appellant,

vs.

DIGNITY HEALTH,

Respondent.

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal Third Appellate District, No. C085906 San Joaquin County Superior Court No. STK-CV-UWM-2-16-4821

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MANATT, PHELPS & PHILLIPS, LLP Barry S. Landsberg (Bar No. 117284) Doreen Wener Shenfeld (Bar No. 113686) *Joanna S. McCallum (Bar No. 187093) Craig S. Rutenberg (Bar No. 205309) 11355 West Olympic Blvd. Los Angeles, CA 90064-1614 Telephone: (310) 312-4000 Facsimile: (310) 312-4224 jmccallum@manatt.com

> Attorneys for Respondent DIGNITY HEALTH

I. INTRODUCTION

Sundar Natarajan, M.D. seeks review of a decision rejecting Natarajan's novel theory that the hearing officer presiding over his medical staff hearing had an impermissible financial bias. However, the Court of Appeal's Opinion is fully consistent with the statute setting forth the governing standard for medical staff hearing officer financial bias, as well as with a consistent line of authority holding that fair procedure, not constitutional due process, applies to medical staff hearings at private hospitals in California. Nothing about the Opinion warrants this Court's review.

II. REVIEW IS NOT WARRANTED

A. There is no need to resolve any purported conflict with *Yaqub*.

Natarajan asserts review is needed to resolve a supposed conflict between the Opinion and *Yaqub v. Salinas Valley Memorial Healthcare System* (2005) 122 Cal.App.4th 474. In fact, any conflict between the two decisions is of no real significance, and does not require this Court's involvement.

The subject matter of the Opinion and *Yaqub*—whether a medical staff hearing officer has a disqualifying financial bias—is governed by statute. Business & Professions Code section 809.2, subdivision (b) unequivocally provides the sole applicable standard. It states: "If a hearing officer is selected to preside at a hearing held before a panel, the hearing officer shall gain no direct financial benefit from the outcome, shall not act as a prosecuting officer or advocate, and shall not be entitled to vote." *Yaqub* does not mention this statute and Natarajan does not acknowledge this statutory standard until 12 pages into his Petition in his fourth argument, and then only to argue generally that its terms are undefined. (Pet. 17.)

The Opinion here is the *only* appellate decision to discuss and apply this governing statute. Having not mentioned the statute, *Yaqub* did not offer any conflicting interpretation. The *Yaqub* court concluded that a hearing officer had a disqualifying financial bias even though, as the court conceded, he *lacked* any "direct" interest. (*Yaqub*, 122 Cal.App.4th at 485 [explaining "there was *no evidence* of actual prejudice or of a *direct financial interest in the outcome of the case*"] [emphasis added].) Under section 809.2, subdivision (b), the governing statute, a hearing officer without a "direct financial benefit from the outcome" does not have a disqualifying financial bias. *Yaqub* simply erred. This mistake does not require review or resolution by this Court, when, at bottom, the Opinion here amounts to a first-impression ruling as the only decision to apply the controlling statute.

Natarajan speculates about the reasons why *Yaqub* did not address section 809.2, subdivision (b) (Pet. 26), but the reasons do not matter. The fact is that *Yaqub* did not address the binding statute applicable to this precise setting, and instead applied a different common-law standard. *Yaqub* thus is irrelevant.

Yaqub has had no discernible practical impact in the evolution of the case law. In the 15 years that *Yaqub* stood as the sole citable precedent on the subject of medical staff hearing officer financial bias, its holding was never applied or followed in any published opinion. *Yaqub* was *cited* in two published

-7-

California opinions, neither of which applied or discussed it. Both cases merely referenced Yaqub in passing for the general proposition that a hearing officer may be disqualified for financial bias. (See El-Attar v. Hollywood Presbyterian Medical Center (2013) 56 Cal.4th 976, 996; Thornbrough v. Western Placer Unified School District (2013) 223 Cal.App.4th 169, 188.) Natarajan seeks to find significance for Yaqub's continuing viability in the fact that this Court cited it in El-Attar, but El-Attar was not a hearing officer financial bias case and it had no occasion to consider Yaqub's neglect of the governing statute or its statement that there was no evidence of a "direct" benefit. Courts have mostly ignored Yaqub; they are even less likely to start applying it now.

And during the same 15 years since the decision in Yaqub, the relevant legal landscape has been clarified by this Court in ways that render Yaqub even further out of step and resigned to legal obscurity. In Mileikowsky v. West Hills Hosp. & Med. Ctr. (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1259, 1271, the Court affirmed the limited, nonadjudicatory role of a medical staff hearing officer, including explaining that the hearing officer is not the decision-maker. It did so by construing different language of the same statute (section 809.2, subd. (b)) examined in the Natarajan Opinion. (*Ibid.*) The hearing officer's limited role makes any "bias" on the part of the hearing officer less likely to have any impact on the outcome. In El-Attar, the Court made clear that a peer review action will not be reversed for an unfair procedure if a claimed error was harmless. (El-Attar, 56 Cal.4th at 990-991.) This

-8-

typically would be the case if a non-adjudicator hearing officer had some sort of undetected bias.

There is no need for this Court to address *Yaqub*.¹

B. There is no need to resolve any purported conflict with *Applebaum*.

Natarajan also urges review to resolve what he characterizes as a conflict between the Opinion and *Applebaum v*. *Board of Directors of Barton Memorial Hospital* (1980) 104 Cal.App.3d 648, regarding the difference between "due process" and "fair procedure" rights of physicians in peer review proceedings at private hospitals. Again, there is no reviewable conflict of decision.

In the Opinion, the court reaffirmed the principle, as articulated in numerous prior cases (including from this Court), that a physician in a private hospital is entitled to fair procedure, *not* constitutional due process. (See, e.g., *Ezekial v. Winkley* (1977) 20 Cal.3d 267, 278; *Kaiser Found. Hospitals v. Superior Court* (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 85, 102²; *Powell v. Bear Valley Community Hospital* (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 263, 274.) In *Applebaum*, the court acknowledged that same principle, stating "[s]ince the actions of a private institution are not necessarily those of the state, the controlling concept in such cases is fair procedure and not due process." (*Applebaum*, 104 Cal.App.3d at 657.) *Applebaum* went on to say that "[t]he distinction between

¹ The Court denied review in *Yaqub* as well.

² In petitioning for review in *Kaiser*, Natarajan's counsel similarly argued that the decision was at odds with *Applebaum*. (2005 WL 2396394, at *26-*27.)

fair procedure and due process rights appears to be one of origin and not of the extent of protection afforded an individual; the essence of both rights is fairness." (*Ibid.*) This commentary about procedural fairness, without regard to how it is labeled, does not create a conflict of decision.

First, *Applebaum* had nothing to do with the financial bias of a hearing officer, and so it is not authority for any principles or rules about how to determine financial bias of a hearing officer. The procedural unfairness in *Applebaum* arose because (1) the doctor who instigated the investigation of the plaintiff physician and gave evidence against him was a member of the ad hoc committee that recommended the suspension of his privileges; and (2) several members of the appeal committee that made the final decision had attended a meeting of the executive committee at which disparaging comments about the plaintiff had been made. (Applebaum, 104 Cal.App.3d at 658-660.) The combination/overlap of investigative and adjudicative functions is what led the court to hold that the particular facts of that situation created an intolerable potential for bias—"a practical probability of unfairness"-which is and was the accepted standard for fair procedure under California common law. (Applebaum, 104 Cal.App.3d at 659; Rhee v. El Camino Hosp. Dist. (1988) 201 Cal.App.3d 477, 492.). The Natarajan Opinion says the same thing. (Slip Op. 8-9, fn. 11.) Applebaum had no occasion to apply "due process" principles in any way that deviated from fair procedure.

Second, Applebaum does not create a conflict in the law

because its holding was codified with the subsequent enactment, nine years later, of section 809.2, subdivision (a). In that statute, which addresses bias of members of a medical staff hearing adjudicatory panel, the Legislature prohibited the sort of combined or overlapping functions that led to the unfairness problem in *Applebaum*. Section 809.2, subdivision (a) states, as relevant here: "The hearing shall be held . . . before *a panel of unbiased individuals* who shall gain no direct financial benefit from the outcome, *who have not acted as an accuser, investigator, factfinder, or initial decisionmaker in the same matter*" (emphasis added). *Applebaum* and the statute impose the same rule, and so *Applebaum* has no continuing independent significance. And section 809.2, subdivision (a) is not at issue here.

Third, if Natarajan were correct that there is no meaningful difference between constitutional due process and fair procedure requirements with respect to hearing officer financial bias, then section 809.2, subdivision (b) would be superfluous. Its standard of "direct financial benefit" is already encompassed within the broader constitutional and common-law standards, so there would have been no need for the Legislature to enact a statute that articulates only one of a larger set of applicable standards for financial bias. "[T]he Legislature does not engage in idle acts." (*Mendoza v. Nordstrom, Inc.* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1074, 1087.)

Similarly, equating due process with fair procedure renders superfluous the Legislature's express directive that "due process

-11-

of law" governs peer review of physicians at California's *public* hospitals. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 809.7 [stating that sections 809.1 to 809.4 do not apply to public hospitals and that "[t]his section shall not affect the obligation to afford due process of law to licentiates involved in peer review proceedings in *these* hospitals" [emphasis added]]; see also *Kaiser*, 128 Cal.App.4th at 102, fn. 15 [citing specifically to section 809.7 when rejecting the argument that due process governs peer review proceedings at private hospitals].)

C. The Opinion presents no "important" unresolved question because the standard for medical staff hearing officer financial bias is resolved.

Natarajan also urges review on the ground that the issue of hearing officer financial bias is "very important" and is unresolved. (Pet. 10.) But the standard for hearing officer financial bias, while important, is not unresolved. As discussed, the standard is imposed and resolved by an on-point statute.

Natarajan's "unresolved" characterization is based on *Haas v. County of San Bernardino* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1017, which articulated a common-law standard applicable to an administrative hearing officer who was an adjudicator, unlike hearing officers in physician peer review cases. (See *Mileikowsky*, 45 Cal.4th at 1271 [noting that peer review hearing officers "ha[ve] no part in the decisionmaking process"].) But as *Haas* explained, the Court needed to impose a common-law standard because there were *no applicable statutory standards*. Rather, this Court explained that "[t]he problem" of impermissible financial bias in *Haas* "arises from the *lack of specific statutory* standards governing temporary hearing officers appointed by counties under Government Code section 27724." (*Haas*, 27 Cal.4th at 1036 [emphasis added].) In contrast, here, the Legislature examined financial bias in this precise context, and it enacted a specific statute imposing a specific standard. *Haas* does not make the standard "unresolved."

Natarajan tries to bolster the "importance" of the issue by pointing out that numerous amici appeared before the Court of Appeal and that Dignity Health and others sought publication of the Opinion. In fact, no amicus appeared in support of Natarajan's position, and the only amicus that did not overtly support Dignity Health—the California Medical Association (CMA)—expressly declined to support Natarajan as well. (See Application for Leave to File *Amicus Curiae* Brief and *Amicus Curiae* Brief of the California Medical Association in Support of Neither Party, p. 7 ["[w]ithout taking a position on the ultimate outcome of this case . . ."]; *id.*, p. 10 ["CMA is neutral in this case and takes no position on the ultimate outcome of Dr. Natarajan's appeal"].)

Further, the landscape has changed since the Opinion was published. Prior to the Opinion's publication, *Yaqub*, although mostly ignored, still was at least potentially concerning in that it was the only case addressing medical staff hearing officer financial bias. In that context, it was important to obtain a decision stating and applying the correct, applicable statutory law to eliminate possible confusion. Now, with the published Opinion in this case, trial courts are free to follow the correctly decided Opinion, the only one that applies the governing statute. There is no reason to speculate or assume they will not do so, and the Opinion lays out some of the many reasons not to follow *Yaqub*. There is no danger—only Natarajan's speculation—that the co-existence of the Opinion and *Yaqub* will create uncertainty.

D. The asserted "serious practical problems" are merely speculative.

Natarajan suggests a parade of horribles that will ensue if the Opinion stands. For instance, he contends that hospitals will cite the Opinion as authorizing them to repeatedly hire their favorite hearing officers without restrictions. (Pet. 19 ["there is little or no doubt that if this Court does not grant review, hospitals will decide it is perfectly safe for them to repeatedly appoint their preferred hospital attorneys as hearing officers"]; *ibid.* ["hospitals will have a virtually unlimited ability to appoint whomever they like as hearing officers"].) There are several reasons why such a result cannot reasonably be expected, all of which were briefed below and none of which is mentioned in the Petition.

Natarajan's case has always been unique in that the bias he alleged was not based on the hearing officer's potential for additional work *at the same hospital*. Rather, Natarajan contended that an impermissible financial bias existed based on his unprecedented assertion (one not even considered in *Yaqub*, which involved a hearing officer's repeated service at and multiple connections to a single hospital) that the hearing officer might in the future be hired as a hearing officer at *any of the* other 33 hospitals owned by Dignity Health across the state. There is no support for this theory of bias, and in any event the Opinion found it unnecessary to reach this issue. (Slip Op. 11 ["we do not need to address . . . plaintiff's immaterial assertion that we should consider potential employment with defendant's hospitals as a whole as opposed to only St. Joseph's"].)

Natarajan assumes a hospital would repeatedly hire a hearing officer who had ruled in its favor in past hearings. But if a hearing officer makes erroneous and unsupported rulings just to try to please the hospital, those rulings may well be reversed, requiring an expensive and time-consuming do-over of the hearing process while the physician in many cases must be allowed to continue to practice at the hospital, threatening patient safety, until the hearing process is complete. A hospital would not want to use a hearing officer again if his or her rulings led to reversal.

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